
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Performance and 
Administration Cabinet 

Committee

Members of the Performance and Administration Cabinet Committee of Gravesham Borough 
Council are summoned to attend a meeting to be held at the  on Tuesday, 18 February 2020 at 
7.30 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies 

2. Minutes (Pages 3 - 6)

3. Declarations of Interest 

4. To considered whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or those (if any) in Part B in public. 

5. Debt Recovery Arrangements (Pages 7 - 24)

6. Corporate Performance Update - Quarter Three 2019-20 (Pages 25 - 36)

To present the Members of Performance & Administration Committee 
with an update against the Performance Management Framework, as 
introduced within the council’s Corporate Plan, for Quarter Three 2019-
20 (October to December 2019). 

7. Corporate Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements (Pages 37 - 52)



8. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

9. Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.
 

Part B

Items likely to be considered in Private 

None. 

Members

Cllr Narinderjit Singh Thandi (Chair)
Cllr Brian Francis (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Cllr Helen Ashenden
Harold Craske
Dakota Dibben
Sarah Gow
Gary Harding
Leslie Hills
Elizabeth Mulheran
Gurbax Singh

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Performance and Administration Cabinet Committee

Thursday, 14 November 2019 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr Narinder Singh Thandi (Chair)
Cllr Brian Francis (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Harold Craske
Dakota Dibben
Sarah Gow
Gary Harding
Leslie Hills
Peter Scollard
Gurbax Singh

Ben Turner Corporate Performance Manager
Michelle Batstone Corporate Change Manager
Pat Knight Service Manager (Revenues & Benefits)
Lauren Wallis Committee Services Officer (Minutes)

59. Apologies 

An apology for absence was received from Cllr Gurjit Bains. 

60. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting 

The minutes of the meeting held on 24 September 2019 were signed by the Chair.

61. To declare any interest Members may have in the items contained on 
this agenda. When declaring an interest Members should state what 
their interest is. 

No declarations of interest were made.

62. Corporate Performance Management Framework: 2019 to 2023 

The Committee was presented with the draft Corporate Performance Management 
Framework 2019 to 2023 for review. The Corporate Performance Manager reminded 
Members that the Corporate Plan had been unanimously approved at a meeting of the 
Council in October 2019 and was based upon a suite of objectives and policy commitments. 
The approval of the Committee was sought to establish a performance management regime 
based upon Performance Indicators (PIs) which would allow both Members and the public to 
monitor the Council’s performance against the adopted Corporate Plan. 

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Performance and Administration Cabinet Committee 14.11.2019

2

The Corporate Performance Manager highlighted the ‘Drivers’ that present the need for 
robust performance arrangements that include forming a core part of the Council’s Value for 
Money conclusion and the ‘Method’ which reaffirmed the message that good performance 
was everyone’s responsibility. ‘Quality’ presents the need for robust data and, where 
required, interventions from the Corporate Performance team to ensure the highest possible 
accuracy in reported outruns. This document had been endorsed by the Council’s 
Management Team at the end of October and Member endorsement was sought to trigger 
formal performance monitoring which would commence in January 2020.

The following points were made during discussion on this subject:

 Reference was made to the Council’s ambition to be a carbon neutral Borough. 
However, it was felt that the reduction of CO² emissions in relation to Council assets 
must be achievable to be included. Members were advised that work was being 
carried out on each PI with this in mind. Specifically in relation to this PI, the 
Corporate Performance Manager was working with the Housing Partnerships 
Manager with a view to introducing an appropriate procedure note to define exactly 
what each PI entails, how it is calculated and frequency of reporting.

 In response to a question relating to reporting frequency, the Corporate Performance 
Manager advised that all PIs will be presented to Cabinet on a quarterly basis. From 
there the suite would then be split into Portfolio groups and each Cabinet Committee 
would receive the PIs from the Chair’s Portfolio, together with contextual updates to 
provide a full progress update.

 It was noted that the previous performance regime had sometimes been confusing 
and Officers were congratulated for producing an improved system. Following a 
question about possible anomalies left over from the last Plan, the Corporate 
Performance Manager explained that the previous system had been refined rather 
than overhauled, albeit it has accounted for new themes and commitments made by 
the Council’s administration.

 A concern was expressed about the urgency of using PI material. Members were 
advised that officers work closely with the Council’s services to obtain intelligence 
and any potential issues are bought to the attention to the Management Team who 
might intervene depending on the severity of the situation. Alongside quarterly 
updates to Members, as and when instances require, Portfolio Holders would be kept 
up to date via regular briefings with officers.

 The Members were advised that performance targets have been removed in the new 
arrangements, in order to focus attention and scrutiny on the outturns themselves. All 
Cabinet Committees will receive reports that include trends and performance over 
time to enable Members to get a feel for what was working and what was not rather 
than focussing on arbitrary targets that become outdated in-year in any case. 

The new Service Manager (Revenues & Benefits) introduced himself to Members and gave 
a progress report on the revenues and benefits service. He advised that he had worked for 
the Borough Council for six weeks and had found it to be a very supportive organisation who 
took performance management very seriously. He noted that the previous incumbent, Mr 
Mike Bytheway, had left a very strong service. Performance figures from October 2019 
showed an improvement and he felt that contextualised data was very important. Members 
were apprised of the performance progress of the teams within the Revenues & Benefits 
service.

The questions and comments were made on this subject:

Page 4



Performance and Administration Cabinet Committee 14.11.2019

3

 The excellent Council Tax collection rates were recognised and officers duly thanked, 
it was noted that it was good for the community as a whole to live up to the 
expectation that Council Tax payments should be made.

 The difficulties facing the retail sector was noted.
 Following a comment from a Member, the Service Manager (Revenues & Benefits) 

recognised that whilst the benefit application turnaround rate (14.6 days) was a good 
achievement, officers were aware that it was still difficult for people to manage who 
were waiting for their applications to be processed and the team did their best to 
signpost clients.

The Committee asked that thanks be passed on to the officers who had contributed to the 
good performance of the Revenues & Benefits Service. 

Resolved that it was agreed that the Cabinet Member for Performance & 
Administration formally approve the Corporate Performance Management Framework 
2019 to 2023.

63. Change Strategy 2019-2023 

Members were presented with the draft Change Strategy for Gravesham Borough Council 
for review prior to the submission of the final report to Cabinet for approval.

The Corporate Change Manager reported that the Change Strategy had been reviewed in 
line with the Corporate Plan and the changing landscape within which the Council was 
currently operating. It had been bought before the Committee to give Members an 
opportunity to consider the document which would then be submitted for approval to Cabinet 
at its meeting in January 2020.

The following points were made during discussion on this subject:

 It was noted that some members of staff might feel threatened by changes in the 
workplace. Members were advised that everyone approached changes in different 
ways and that the key was communication and engagement and this included 
officers and Members. For example, the Corporate Change Team would work with 
officers to learn and to develop how service performance might be improved. The 
Council also engaged with residents in relation to improvements to services where 
required

 Following a question on the effects of the years of austerity, the Bridging the Gap 
initiative, the Council’s property investment together with the oncoming Local Plan 
Review etc, Members were advised that the Corporate Change team was working 
with services to ensure that resources were being utilised in the best possible way. 
The first Change Strategy had been developed in line with the Medium Term 
Financial Plan and was linked to the Council’s Bridging the Gap Strategy. The current 
draft document had built upon this and emphasises the  framework the Council would 
use.  Specifically in terms of the Local Plan Review, this wass an area that would be 
considered by the Strategic Environment Cabinet Committee. Any general updates 
regarding change activities would be provided to the  Performance & Administration 
Portfolio.

 A question was raised on the words from the report “As required, Members will be 
invited to be involved in change activities and provide their input into the process” 
and the officer explained that each project would be judged as to appropriate 

Page 5



Performance and Administration Cabinet Committee 14.11.2019

4

Member involvement depending on the nature of the project. The Corporate Change 
Manager offered to review the wording in this section and also advised that Members 
would be involved in many different ways.

 With regard to the work of the Digital Team, cyber security and the Risk Register, the 
Committee was advised that the IT Service looked after the cyber security risk 
although there was a link with the Digital Team.  The Corporate Change Manager 
confirmed to undertake further review of this area and provide an update to Members 
in due course.

 Following a further question on Member involvement in the activities of the Change 
Strategy, it was confirmed that the appropriate Portfolio Holder would be consulted, 
and the outcomes of reviews would be submitted to the appropriate Cabinet 
Committee.  It would be for the Cabinet to make any specific decisions required, 
regarding the change Strategy and the Overview Scrutiny Committee would have the 
option to call-in decisions in line with the Constitution.

Resolved that the report be noted.

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 8.13 pm

Page 6



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Performance & Administration Committee

Date: 18 February 2020 

Reporting officer: Head of Revenues and Benefits
Assistant Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Collection of council tax, business rates and housing benefit 
overpayments and the corporate debt approach.

Purpose and summary of report:
To provide Members with information on collection rates and the level of arrears within the 
Cabinet portfolio.
To inform Members on corporate arrangements to collect outstanding debt and support those 
who are vulnerable and less financially able to make payments to the council.

Recommendations:

1. This report is for information only.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. A report published by the National Audit Office found that in 2017/18, of reported debt 
problems, 40% of debt was owed to government departments, compared to 21% in 
2011/12. At Gravesham the importance of efficient and effective debt collection and 
management has been recognised for some time but, as highlighted in the National 
Audit Office report, efforts have been impeded by the lack of ability to effectively data 
share across different departments.

2. CURRENT HISTORIC DEBT

2.1. The three key areas of debt for the Committee are Council Tax, National Non-
Domestic Rates (NNDR) or Business Rates and Housing Benefit Overpayments. The 
Revenues and Benefits service is responsible for the billing and ultimately collection 
of these debts. 

2.2 The total level of debt outstanding in respect of these areas as at 31 March 2015 was 
£13,060,041.  As at the 31 December 2019 the total level of debt outstanding had 
reduced to £12,012,410. This reduction is despite nearly five years of additional 
liability being incurred in the meantime. It is anticipated that by the end of the 
financial year the total debt outstanding will be similar to that as at 31 March 2019.

Page 7 Agenda Item 5



2

2.3 The table below shows how this is split across the relevant service debts and 
provides a comparison with previous years.

Debt Type Debt Outstanding
As at 

31.03.15
As at 

31.03.16
As at 

31.03.17
As at 

31.03.18
As at 

31.03.19
As at 

31.12.19
Council Tax £7,477,418 £4,245,344 £4,555,411 £4,596,462 £4,910,356 £5,935,492

NNDR £1,179,871 £1,201,221 £1,070,134 £886,944 £610,192 £766,071
Housing 
Benefit 

Overpayments
£4,402,752 £5,289,127 £5,193,946 £5,540,281 £5,217,826 £5,310,847

TOTAL £13,060,041 £10,735,692 £10,819,491 £11,023,687 £10,738,374 £12,012,410

2.4 The details above show the full value of council tax and NNDR that are outstanding.  
Whilst the council has a statutory responsibility to collect this debt, only a proportion 
of this will be retained by the council.  Taking this into account, the total monies that 
are actually due to Gravesham is:

Debt Type Debt Outstanding due to the council
As at 

31.03.15
As at 

31.03.16
As at 

31.03.17
As at 

31.03.18
As at 

31.03.19
As at 

31.12.19
Council Tax £822,516 £466,988 £501,095 £505,611 £540,139 652,904

NNDR £235,974 £240,244 £214,027 £177,389 £122,038 £153,214
Housing 
Benefit 

Overpayments
£4,402,752 £5,289,127 £5,193,946 £5,540,281 £5,217,826 £5,310,847

TOTAL £5,461,242 £5,996,359 £5,909,068 £6,223,281 £5,880,003 £6,116,965

This table shows that, whilst the actual amount of money due to Gravesham is 
smaller there is still a significant amount of debt owed to the council.

2.5 The council measures in-year collection in respect of Council Tax and NNDR. This 
collection rate is reported internally monthly and quarterly to central government. The 
annual outturn collection rates are reported nationally. There is no equivalent 
measure for Housing Benefit Overpayments. However, the service does monitor the 
amount recovered during the year as a percentage of overpayments raised in the 
year. The table below 

Debt Type In- year collection rates

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
2019/20 as 
at 31.12.19

Council Tax 96.9% 96.9% 97.0% 97.0% 96.9% 84.3%

NNDR 98.4% 98.5% 99.1% 98.0% 99.1% 83.4%
Housing 
Benefit 

Overpayments
48.5% 46.4% 71.6% 72.2% 85.2% 73.6%

Page 8



3

3. COLLECTION OF DEBT

3.1. Council Tax and Business Rates

3.1.1. Whilst the vast majority of tax/rate payers pay their council tax and/or business rates in a
    timely manner in the event of non-payment the Revenues and Benefits service issue a    
    series of notices including a reminder; in specific circumstances a second reminder ; a 

final notice and a summons to attend the Magistrates Court . At the hearing the council 
applies for a court order called a liability order which gives the council extra powers to 

   recover the debt. 

   These include (Council Tax only except where indicated):-

 Customer required to supply financial information including where they work (if 
they do) , the amount they earn , any benefits they receive;

 Issue an attachment to benefits and earnings. The amounts are set at a statutory 
amount dependent upon value and frequency. In respect of benefits it is specific 
benefits namely, Pension Credit Guarantee Credit, Income Support, Job Seekers 
Allowance; Employment & Support Allowance and Universal Credit;

 Apply for a Charging Order at the County Court where debt is more than £1,000;

 Make an application for bankruptcy where debt is more than £5,000;

 Pass the case to the Enforcement Agents (often referred to as bailiffs) in respect 
of both council tax and business rate debts;

 Committal proceedings – this is rare and is used only as a last resort (after an 
enforcement agent has been unsuccessful and all other possible ways of 
recovery have failed) in respect of both council tax and business rate debts.

3.2. Housing Benefit Overpayments

3.2.1 The Benefits team issue an invoice in respect of any debt. In the event of non-payment, 
a reminder and final notice are issued. In the event of non-payment or no contact to 
make an appropriate repayment arrangement then the service will undertake additional 
recovery action including:-

 Reducing any ongoing housing benefit entitlement at a prescribed amount until 
the full amount is repaid

 Request the Department for Work and Pensions to reduce the amount of 
(specific)  benefit(s) at a prescribed amount until the full amount is repaid

 Direct Earnings Attachment 

 Pass to a debt collector

 As a last resort and where debt is more than £600 apply for a  County Court 
Judgement (CCJ),at which stage the case is referred to the Income Team who 
refer the case to the Sheriff’s Office for enforcement of the CCJ through the High 
Court.

Page 9



4

4. Current arrangements for supporting customers who have debt

4.1. It is recognised that there can be a myriad of reasons why a customer is in debt. 
Some of these reasons can be complex and through no ‘fault’ of the customer. The 
service trains staff to look holistically at a case when any customer contacts the 
service in relation to a debt.

4.2. In some circumstances it may be that a debt can be reduced by the application of an 
appropriate discount, exemption, relief or benefit. 

4.3. The council has a page on its website to assist customers who have problems in 
paying. https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/council-tax/problems-paying/overview.  
This page provides an overview, signposting money advice including free money 
advice services

4.4. Provides the service vulnerable persons policy together with an online income and 
expenditure form for an individual to complete. This information is then considered by 
the service and appropriate action taken including repayment arrangements or if 
identified as potentially vulnerable then steps in 3.4 are implemented. Should the 
case currently be with an enforcement agent for collection then the customer will be 
invited into the council offices to attend, discuss (in confidence) their circumstances 
at a debt surgery. An enforcement agent will be available together with a member of 
staff with a view to advising a way forward to clear this debt

4.5. There may be signs that an individual could be recognised as belonging to a certain 
group and potentially may be a vulnerable person. In such cases the service in 
accordance with its vulnerability policy  ensures that it :-

 liaises with the customer to agree the best method of recovering outstanding 
arrears and the easiest way for them to pay.

 updates the Revenues and Benefits computer system by marking the record that 
the customer is a vulnerable person when vulnerability has been identified.

 carefully considers each case where vulnerability has been identified before 
taking any recovery action.

 takes no action such as bankruptcy, charging order or committal where 
vulnerability has been identified without firstly making an appointment with the 
customer to discuss further.

 adapts the recovery process where the service is aware that a customer is 
vulnerable to minimise any hardship or distress.

 clearly explains the decisions regarding any action and reasons for refusing any 
requests.

 signposts customer to any help that is considered may be useful in their 

5. Corporate Debt approach

5.1.  The Corporate Debt Strategy sets the framework for a consistent and sensitive 
approach to collecting debt whilst at the same time ensuring the council continues to 
maximise collection performance (see Appendix 2). The document is currently in draft 
form and subject to further review.

5.2. In June 2018 a data hub system iDis was purchased, whereby debtor information 
across several council services could be uploaded and automatically matched, 

Page 10

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/council-tax/problems-paying/overview


5

usually by name and address. The aim of the system was to provide a consistent 
service to our customer where they owned a debt to more than one department, and 
in turn, improve efficiency in the deployment of recovery resources and collection 
rates. 

5.3. The total level of debt outstanding across the council at the end of the 2018-2019 
financial year (as per figures provided by the Corporate Debt working group) was 
£14.2m.

5.4. The council’s Corporate Debt approach was launched in May 2019.  Corporate debt 
cases are overseen by the Income Team and the existing recovery officers who 
provide the single point of contact to the debtor; there is liaison and input to cases 
required from departmental recovery teams to ensure compliance with the recovery 
arrangements for each type of debt, understanding of the recovery arrangements 
agreed with debtors and to ensure that individual system records remain up to date. 
The Income Team have instigated monthly meetings to discuss potential corporate 
debt cases with departmental recovery teams and agree how these are to progress.

5.5. To continue the improvement of debt collection the availability of timely and good 
quality information is important.  Whilst the IT solution has assisted with this, officer 
interaction, effective communication and sufficient resourcing also play an essential 
part. For the corporate debt approach to be properly tested the Recovery Officer has 
been given permanent responsibility for administering the iDis System, including the 
creation and oversight of corporate debt cases and ensuring effective liaison with 
departmental recovery teams.   

5.6. This approach has been in place for less than a twelve month period but some very 
good results have been achieved already (corporate debt dashboard below). The 
case study examples following also illustrate some successes of the corporate debt 
approach so far for both the customer and the council.

Page 11



P
age 12



6. Corporate Debt Case Studies

Customer 1

Total amount owed to the Council £1,114.07, made up from £82.00 sundry debt, £1,032.07 
council tax (including £795.61 with the Enforcement Agency Service, nil collected to date). 
Any debts referred to an enforcement agency we are unable to incorporate as part of a 
corporate debt.

The last 4 year’s council tax debts were all summonsed with only very low value payments 
made to these accounts; assumed from the DWP. 

The remaining arrears of £1,114.07 have been identified by the corporate debt team as a 
corporate debt.

Since July 2019 an arrangement has been in place to make monthly payments of £25.00; 
£20 towards the current council tax account, together with £5 towards the outstanding 
sundry debtor invoice. The customer is on track to clear by the end of March 2020.

Customer 2

Total amount owed to the Council £1,050.03, made up from £20 sundry debt, £1,030.03 
council tax (over last 4 years, all with a summons).

Following identification as a corporate debt an arrangement was put in place for repayment 
of council tax arrears and the sundry debtor account; the sundry debtor account has been 
cleared and the arrangement has been maintained. 

Old year’s council tax is being paid by monthly instalments of £22, 

The current council tax account should be clear by the end of February 2020.

Customer 3

Total amount owed to the Council £766.02, made up from £676.00 housing rent, £90.00 
sundry debtor.

Identified as a corporate debtor, whilst council tax arrears had accumulated they had been 
referred to an enforcement agency.

An instalment plan was agreed to pay £30.00 per week, split £10.00 towards the sundry 
debtor account and £20.00 towards the housing rent account.

The sundry debtor account is now clear and the housing rent arrears due to clear by June 
2020.

Page 13



8

Customer 4

Total amount owed to the Council £9,213.25, made up from £1,221.00 sundry debtors, 
£2,485.00 council tax (£1,827.81 is referred to the enforcement agency), £630.90 former 
housing tenant arrears, £5,977.00 in parking fines.

Very little effort was made by the customer to pay towards the council tax account over 4 
years, making payments totalling around £178.00.

No payments had been made towards the parking fines.

On identification by the corporate debt team, an arrangement was agreed totalling £100 per 
month, all payments allocating to her current council tax account until the new year bills and 
then the instalments will increase to £100 per month, plus full payment of the current council 
tax instalment. This will be equally split monthly between the sundry debtor invoice, the 
former tenant arrears and the parking fine. The debtor is currently maintaining this 
instalment plan.

Compliments: - Since implementing the corporate debt approach the corporate debt officer 
has received face-to-face compliments and over the telephone compliments. Examples are 
as follows: -

 Thank you for helping me deal with my finances in a positive and pleasant manner.

 Thank you for assisting me in applying for financial help and informing me of what I 
am entitled to.

 I feel like a big weight has been lifted from me.

 Sorting my finances has made me feel so much happier.

Page 14



9

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There are no specific legal matters arising from this report.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

This report is for information only – there are no direct financial implications.

Risk Assessment

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.
N/A

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?

N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.

N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.

No decision – paper is for information only.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.

N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Strategic Objective #3 Progress; Sound Financial Management & Succesfully 
Managing Key Business Risks

Page 15

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


10

Crime and Disorder No direct implications.

Digital and website 
implications

No direct implications.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

No direct implications.

Page 16



Corporate Debt Strategy

Purpose of Strategy 

Gravesham Borough Council is required to collect monies from both residents and businesses for 
the provision of a variety of goods, services and taxes. The council recognises that prompt income 
collection is vital for ensuring the authority has the resources it needs to deliver its services. The 
council therefore has a responsibility to ensure that appropriate mechanisms are applied to enable 
the collection of debt that is legally due.

The council aims to achieve a high and prompt income collection rate. It endeavours to keep 
outstanding debt at the lowest possible level by instigating a payment culture which minimises bad 
debts and prevents the accumulation of debt over a period of time. 

This strategy sets the framework for a consistent and sensitive approach to collecting debt whilst at 
the same time ensuring the council continues to maximise collection performance. 

The Corporate Debt Strategy also links to the following documents which are explained in further 
detail in the sections below:

 Corporate Fair Debt Policy
 Charging Strategy
 Bad Debt Provision and Write Off Policy

Scope of Strategy

This strategy covers all debts owed to the council including:

 Council Tax
 Non Domestic Rates (NDR, known as business rates)
 Council House Rent
 Council Garage Rent
 Sundry Debts (including Housing Benefit Overpayments and Former Tenant Arrears)
 Parking Debt

Objectives of the Strategy 

The objectives of the strategy are to:

 Set out a clear prioritisation of debts, with regard to the Citizens Advice Bureau guidelines
 Maximise income and collection performance for the Council
 Ensure that all council taxpayers’ interests are protected by striving to collect all debts as 

quickly as possible 
 Identifying solutions for customers on debt issues at the first point of contact 
 Be firm but fair
 Take decisive, preventative action at the earliest opportunity for example offering a variety 

of payment options

Page 17



Appendix 2

 Understand customers’ circumstances and ability to pay to distinguish between a customer 
who won’t pay from a customer who can’t pay 

 Help where possible to maximise customers’ income, including referral to help and support 
agencies if appropriate. This includes making repayment arrangements based on the 
council’s corporate income and expenditure form 

 Ensure consistency in dealing with customers 
 Share knowledge, information and expertise across the council where appropriate
 Apply best practice in relation to all types of debt collection 

Understanding Our Customers 

There are those customers whose personal circumstances or poor health cause problems, which 
may temporarily affect their ability to pay. The council will, at all times, try to help customers who 
are experiencing difficulties in paying. Wherever possible the council will try to distinguish between 
those who cannot pay with those who will not pay. 

The council will work in partnership to assist both the council in its debt recovery and the customer 
in obtaining the correct benefit and debt management advice to enable them to pay their bills. The 
council also offers customers the option to pay by instalments where they have difficulty making a 
single full payment. 

The council will ensure that all written communications are appropriate for the intended recipient 
and that plain English is used wherever possible. We will explain complex terminology when it is 
required. All documents will be issued in a timely manner, in accordance with statutory deadlines 
were appropriate and will explain the legal options open to the council to collect debts in a factual 
manner, taking into account the stage of recovery achieved. The policy will also take account of 
customers’ numeracy and literacy skills. We will assist customers with language and 
communication difficulties, by offering translation, interpreting and other services wherever 
possible. 

The council will ensure that all of our customers are treated in a fair and equitable manner. This 
includes complying with the Human Rights Act, The Equality Act and any other legislation or 
policies, which may have an impact.

It is recognised that people do not pay their debts for various reasons and some will have difficulty 
in paying while others may set out to deliberately delay payment. For those who can’t pay we will 
make every effort to assist in a sensitive approach and minimise the impact of debt on them. For 
those who won’t pay we will use a more robust arrangement.

1. Priority of Debts and order /allocation of payments 

The Citizens Advice Bureau has stated that some debts are more urgent to settle than others 
because the consequence of not paying them can be more serious than for other debts. These are 
known as priority debts.  Using these guidelines as a basis, the council has identified what it 
considers to be priority debts and therefore the order of allocation of any payment corporately will 
be as follows: -

 Housing Rent arrears
 Council Tax arrears
 Non Domestic Rates
 Sundry Debt arrears/ Overpaid Housing Benefits/ Garage Rent
 Parking Debt arrears

Page 18



Appendix 2

2. A range of payment options and affordable payment plans

It is acknowledged that the easier it is to pay, the more likely the payment is to be made. Payment 
by Direct Debit is the Council’s preferred method of payment and for instalment plans this is the 
arrangement that would be expected.

We provide a wide range of payment methods including a web-based payment system, 24 hour 
telephone line and bill payment. Some methods are considerably more expensive than others and 
an area of concern that is constantly being worked on.

3. Affordable repayment arrangements: -

It is the Council’s expectation that monies owed will be paid by the due date. Dependant on the 
debt type if it is not possible to be paid by the due date a mutually acceptable payment plan may 
be entered into. 

4. The Council ensures fair, efficient and effective debt collection

Customers who fall into arrears should be advised to contact the Council at the earliest 
opportunity, allowing the customer to make an arrangement that reflects their individual 
circumstances to reduce the effect of debt such persons of low income. This is achievable by 
informing of various income related benefits, for example Localised Support for Council Tax, 
Pension Credits and signposting to other support services, such as the C.A.B.

5. Collection of monies

It is the responsibility of individual departments to collect monies owed to the Council within their 
department and to ensure that robust recovery methods are in place with proper regard to relevant 
legislation and this strategy as follows: - 

 Collect current year plus an amount from any outstanding arrears – to ensure debts do not 
continue to increase 

 The debtor should be able to make consolidated payments which the Corporate Debt Team will 
allocate appropriately to clear their liability on multiple debts 

 Processes and controls must ensure that debt data is up to date, accurate and complete 

 The system must be continually monitored by the relevant department so the correct action 
occurs – e.g. recovery on default 

 Designated officers must be empowered to make corporate decisions 

 Case conferences should be held in the more complex cases.

 Any un-collectable debts to be written off in accordance with the financial regulations 

6. What to expect when paying the Council 

The council has produced a number of customer facing documents to provide customers with help 
and support in paying the council. These are available on the council’s website and have been 
produced for the following areas: 

 Council Tax 
 Non Domestic Rates 
 Rents 

Page 19



Appendix 2

 Housing Benefit Overpayments 
 Invoices 
 Parking

The documents set out the following information for each of the above debt types: 

 When invoices will be sent out and when payment is due 
 How payment can be made 
 When reminders and court letters will be sent 
 What will happen if you do not pay your bill 
 What to do if you have difficulty paying your bill (and contact details for advice & support) 

7. How we will review debts owed to the council

Performance against this strategy will be monitored and reported on a regular basis to all 
stakeholders. Reporting measures will be continually reviewed to ensure they are fit for purpose 
and provide a mechanism for continuous improvement to income collection whilst promoting 
understanding of the cost to the council and its customers of uncollected or late paid debt. 

Corporate Debt Working Group (CDWG) meets at least bi-monthly to review performance against 
targets.
Monthly statistics are maintained identifying trends across each service area comparing debts 
across like for like time periods. These statistics will be reported to Management Team on a 
monthly basis, together with explanation of any high or low spikes in data.

Targets are set by each department to meet the provision required to write off bad debts based on 
age and collectability. 
The aim for each department is to reduce the bad debt provision from the beginning of the financial 
year to the end of that same year. A reduction in aged debt is also an aim although there are 
reasons why this debt maybe retained on the departmental systems.

8. Corporate Fair Debt Policy 

This corporate fair debt policy sets out how the council will undertake to manage and collect all 
types of debt in a ‘firm but fair’ manner. The policy covers how debt will be communicated to the 
customer, how customer disputes will be resolved and aims to offer flexible payment frequencies 
and methods to encourage payment. The policy also covers how the council will provide help and 
support to customers who cannot pay through benefit and financial management advice in 
partnership with other external agencies. 

The debt recovery policy sets out the full range of recovery methods available to the council, which 
may be used depending on the customer’s circumstances, these include: 

 Attachment to earnings 
 Deductions from benefit 
 Enforcement Agent action 
 Insolvency / bankruptcy 
 Charging orders 
 Committal proceedings 
 Withdrawal of service e.g. eviction of council housing tenant 
 Third Party Debt Order 

Page 20



Appendix 2

The policy also sets out where responsibility for collection of different types of debts lies.

9. Charging Strategy

The charging strategy is in place to ensure that fees and charges for council services are set in a 
consistent manner, with the desire to maximise the council’s financial position to achieve the 
council’s policy objectives.

The ability for council’s to charge for services falls under three categories:

1. Statutory prohibition on charging
2. Statutory charges
3. Discretionary services 

Details of the criteria to establish whether the council should or should not charge for a service is 
itemised within the document. 

Members will scrutinise charges in line with the charging strategy to ensure that income streams 
are maximised or support policy objectives.

Service Managers set the levels for fees and charges and the Finance Team present periodic 
reports to Management Team for those income streams to ensure that they are accurately 
reflected in the Medium Term Financial Plan. If income is not at the predicted level appropriate 
early management action must be taken to address this and advised to Management Team.

10. Corporate Debt Approach

The Council recognises that a person may have debts in more than one area of the Council’s 
departments.
For such multiple debt cases a single point of contact is in place by which an officer can work with 
departments and progress the outstanding debts in total as a case management approach; 
prioritisation of the debts and allocation of monies received will be adhered to at this point.
The corporate debt management cases will sit within the Finance Income Department but the 
departments included in these cases will be obliged to assist in the decisions required to progress 
the case and any follow up recovery and/or collection of money as required.

A joined up approach between departments will also be undertaken should a decision be made by 
a recovery officer to instigate further action such as bankruptcy, winding up or a charging order. 
Any such cases must be advised to all departments by the use of the corporate debt internal email 
address and should form part of the agenda discussed at the four weekly meeting of council 
recovery officers.

11. Vulnerability

It is important that persons considered vulnerable are identified as soon as possible as guided 
within the corporate fair debt policy and the principles of the Council’s Vulnerable Person’s policy 
applied immediately.  

12. Use of Enforcement Agents

The Council use Enforcement Agents, Collection Agents and High Court Enforcement Agents 
where it is deemed appropriate in line with the department procedures for that debt type and 
usually as a last resort.

Page 21



Appendix 2

Such Enforcement Agents must be members of the CIVEA Civil Enforcement Association relevant 
professional body and practise the higher industry standards under the code of practice. 

13.  Bad Debt Provision and Write-Off Policy 

The council recognises that not all debts are collectable and therefore it will be appropriate in 
certain circumstances to classify debts as irrecoverable where pre-determined criteria are met. 
As set out in the Constitution of the Council, Annex 2.6 – Financial Procedure Rules (6.4 of the 
constitution, write off of debts and losses), the corporate fair debt policy sets out the circumstances 
in which debts are considered as non-recoverable and details the authorisation required to write off 
irrecoverable debt. The policy states that the presentation of write off accounts is to be made on a 
quarterly basis and also sets out the roles and responsibilities of those involved in the process, 
together with the limits of write off authorisation as follows: -

 Services Manager – individual debts or losses up to £10
 Directors and Assistant Directors – individual debts or losses up to £1,000
 Section 151 Officer and Deputy Section 151 Officer – individual debts or losses up to 

£10,000
 Section 151 Officer and Deputy Section 151 Officer – individual debts or losses up to 

£15,000 in conjunction with the relative Cabinet Portfolio holder
 Cabinet will write off individual debts or losses exceeding £15,000.

. 
The Medium Term Financial Plan ensures that there is adequate provision within the budget each 
year to meet the costs for bad and doubtful debts. This is an estimated amount set aside to cover 
income that the council may be unable to collect. The provision should have regard to the age and 
risk profile of the debt and the percentages applied to calculate it will be reviewed on an annual 
basis for each department.

The Council will ensure that there are effective guidelines in place which detail the action to be 
taken prior to an account being written off. It is also recognised that accounts below a certain value 
will be uneconomic to collect. A write off list will be submitted, reconciled quarterly and then 
authorised in line with the write off policy.

14. Write On and Credit Balances

If a credit remains on an account for more than thirteen months, the account balance is considered 
for writing off of the system, therefore “write-on”. 
Policy rules should then apply prior to accepting that the credit cannot be refunded and the account 
write on is then presented to the appropriate manager for approval.

If a debtor wants to pay an account that has been written off from a system, then the details of the 
corporate fair debt policy should be adhered to.

15. Information Sharing

Data held electronically can only be shared between departments relating to the same debtor if it is 
accessed by the officer requiring that information i.e. under the correct permissions of the systems 
administrator.
For every other case data can only be shared between departments if it is stated so on the bills, 
statements and invoices to the customer that data maybe shared between departments. General 
Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) May 2018 will be adhered to at all times.  

Page 22



Appendix 2

16. Monitoring and Review of the Strategy  

The strategy will be made available on the council website and communicated to through the 
Council’s Network Consent System for relevant staff to view the document. 

The strategy will be reviewed annually.

Further details of these areas of corporate debt can be found within the Council’s Corporate Fair 
Debt Policy and individual department recovery policies. 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Performance & Administration Committee

Date: 18 February 2020

Reporting officer: Ben Turner - Corporate Performance Manager 

Subject: Corporate Performance Update: Quarter Three 2019-20 

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present the Members of Performance & Administration Committee with an update against 
the Performance Management Framework, as introduced within the council’s Corporate Plan, 
for Quarter Three 2019-20 (October to December 2019).

Recommendations:
1. This report is for information purposes only.

1. Introduction

1.1 In October 2019 the council formally adopted its new Corporate Plan for 2019-23. 
The plan sets out the council’s ambition for the borough, complete with a suite of 
corporate objectives and supporting policy commitments that will shape the 
council’s activities over the four year period.  

1.2 In order to evaluate if the council is effectively achieving against its stated policy 
commitments, and is ultimately delivering consistently high quality services, the 
council need to have a sound performance management process in place. 
Developed by senior council officers and Cabinet portfolio holders, the council’s 
Corporate Plan presents a Performance Management Framework (PMF) that 
forms the basis of reporting corporate performance to council Members and 
residents. 

2. Performance management: process

2.1 The effective management of the council relies upon good quality and timely 
performance information on which to base informed executive decisions. 

2.2 Appendix Two to this report provides the Members of Performance & 
Administration Committee with a statistical overview of the council’s performance 
against the Corporate Plan for Quarter Three 2019-20, covering the period 
October to December 2019. 

Page 25 Agenda Item 6



2

2.3 Information on performance over the period is presented in tabular and graphical 
form for all indicators. Where any data is not presented, this will relate either to 
those indicators reported on an annual basis or, alternatively, where data has not 
been submitted in time for the presentation of the report. Any outturns where data 
has been unable to be reported will be presented within the next available 
reporting cycle.  

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

 Gravesham Borough Council: Corporate Plan 2019-23. 

 Gravesham Borough Council: Performance Management Framework 
2019-23. 

Page 26



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

     

Legal The council’s Corporate Plan is an integral part of the authority’s policy framework 
as defined by the Constitution. The new Plan will ensure the council has in place an 
effective framework to delivery its responsibilities and delivers better results for 
vulnerable local residents, with the assistance of relevant partner agencies. 

Finance and 
Value for 
Money 

There are no significant costs associated with the monitoring of the council’s 
Corporate Plan from which council activities should be based and which 
therefore should be accounted for as part of on-going financial planning 
processes.

Risk 
Assessment

Implementation of a performance management framework allows the council to 
evidence how successful it is in achieving against its stated objectives and provides 
residents accountability in how successfully it is administering its resources.   
Screening for Equality ImpactsEquality 

Impact 
Assessment Question

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate 
Plan

The council’s adopted Corporate Plan sets the strategic ambition and objectives for 
the authority over the 2019-23 period. This report provides Cabinet with a quarterly 
assessment of how the council is delivering against its objectives through its 
performance management framework.

Crime and 
Disorder

Community safety is an integral theme of the Corporate Plan and work by the 
council in this area, alongside its key partners, will go towards delivering corporate 
objective #1 People.

Digital and 
website 
implications

In terms of the council's performance management framework, digital 
implications are represented and assessed through the outturns relating to  
'PI 51: online self-help forms'.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable 
adults

The council's work in safeguarding children and vulnerable adults helps contribute 
towards delivering corporate objectives #1 People and #2: Place.

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



Gravesham Borough Council - Corporate Plan 2019-23 00Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P E R F O R M A N C E  &  A D M I N I S T R A T I O N
C O M M I T T E E

Per fo rmance    repor t  
Q  3  :  2  0  1  9  -  2  0

P
age 29



P I  23 Average processing time taken for Housing Benefit claims (days)

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

12.6 12.7 12.2

P I  24 Average processing time for changes of circumstance in Housing Benefit claims (days)

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

5.2 4.9 4.8

#1 PEOPLE P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

1. Put our customers first: implement a suite of quality and effective frontline services accessible to 

all.

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and 
attractive borough their home.

O U T T U R N

In May 2018, the Universal Credit (UC) full service was rolled out across the Borough. It is now in 

operation throughout the whole of England and as a result the Housing Benefit total caseload (i.e. the 

total number of claimants within the Borough) has reduced from 6,551 at 1 April 2018 to 4,702  (4,773) 

at 1 January 2020; a reduction of 27.2%.  

Despite this reduction in caseload there has not been a similar reduction in the actual workload for the 

service. This is due to Universal Credit applications and changes continuing to generate enquiries, 

changes to council tax reduction scheme entitlement and applications for discretionary housing 

payments. 

The average number of days to assess new benefit claims is now 12.2 days and continues to show a 

downward (improving performance) trend. This is a strong performance as demonstrated when 

compared to the national average of 19 days and Kent districts average of 20 days. 

The average number of days to assess change of circumstances in respect of existing benefit claims is 

now 4.8 days and continues to show a downward (improving performance) trend. This is also remains 

a strong performance as demonstrated when compared to the national average of six days and Kent 

districts average of seven days.

O U T T U R N

5

10

15

20

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

2

4

6

8

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

P
age 30



P I  50 Total number of people signed up to citizens access

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

103 1,519 2,757

#3 PROGRESS
"an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service 

improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong governance environment."

O U T T U R N 

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

P
age 31



P I  49 % of posts involved in shared service arrangements

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21
O U T T U R N

Annual indicator Annual indicator

#3 PROGRESSP O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

1. Deliver a more resilient, creative and cost-effective council: implement a programme of

‘continuous change’, overhauling business processes and delivering new, innovative service design.
"an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service 

improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong governance environment."
The council has recently reviewed and updated its Change Strategy to reflect the council’s current 

working arrangements and to also reflect the priorities of the council, as per the new Corporate Plan.

The Corporate Change Team is currently working with colleagues within the Planning Service to assist 

in reviewing their current working practices, through undertaking a business process review approach, 

with a view to identifying potential areas where improvements in terms of efficiencies can be made.  

This is part of a wider project which will also involve reviewing information that is on the website to 

ensure customers are able to access the service in the best possible way.

In quarter four, the team will be working with the Service Manager (Customer and Theatre Services) in 

undertaking an ‘avoidable contact’ exercise in order to identify opportunities to refine and review the way 

in which information is provided to customers in order to potentially reduce unnecessary contact with 

the council.

0%

5%

10%

15%

Q4
2019 - 20

P
age 32



P I  55 % of internal audit recommendations implemented

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

70.6% 75.0% 73.1%

O U T T U R N

Corporate Performance update - Ben Turner 

The council’s new Corporate Plan was approved by Full Council in October 2019. A formal launch 

process has been delivered during Q3 that, alongside the final designed end document, has 

included a number of core products such as a press statement, Your Borough article, branded

posters throughout the Civic, with equivalent work planned for Brookvale Depot in Q4, 'lite' versions 

of the plan and branded lanyards for all staff, culminating with the delivery of a suite of staff talks in

January.

In direct support of the newly adopted Corporate Plan, the November meeting of the Performance

and Administration Committee subsequently endorsed the implementation of a formal corporate 

performance management framework (PMF). The PMF will outline to Members and residents the 

arrangements the council has in place to manage the performance of its services against its stated 

objectives, including regular features in Your Borough and the council's social media platforms 
across all portfolios. 

#3 PROGRESSP O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

3. Drive service improvement and corporate governance: a robust and benchmarked

performance management framework, delivered by services underpinned with sound internal controls.
"an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service 

improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong governance environment."
Audit & Counter Fraud update - James Larkin 

Internal Audit 

The work of the service in the 2019/20 year to date has seen;

• Target for 2019/20 plan completion is 95% - currently 50% complete and 15% underway.

• All Q1 and most Q2 reviews have been finalised, with the final two currently at draft report stage and

being finalised with the client.

• All Q3 reviews are either in quality control, underway or being planned.

• 87% of available resources spent on productive (‘chargeable’) audit & counter fraud related work

(target 90%). The remaining 13% linked to administrative and other council employee related duties.

• Proportion of productive time spent on audit assurance & consultancy 72% (Target 65%).

• Proportion of productive time spent on counter fraud related work 28% (Target 35%).

Under the council’s newly adopted corporate performance management framework, the Internal Audit 

team has a performance indicator relating to the implementation of agreed recommendations. As at the 

end of December, 73.1% of recommendations had been implemented, with the oldest of the 14 

recommendations still outstanding dating back to September 2019. 

Counter Fraud

Investigation work in the 2019/20 year to date has led to the following;

• Additional council tax (historic liability) of £142,810.

• Additional council tax liability of £76,042 for future years.

• Two civil penalties issued in relation to council tax (£140).

• Six council properties recovered (notional saving of £108,000).

• One person removed from the waiting list.

• One fraudulent right to buy application blocked, preventing loss of £82,800.

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

P
age 33



P I  56 % of information requests completed within statutory deadline

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

86% 86% N/A

#3 PROGRESS
4. Successfully manage key business risks: embed a culture of compliance with all policy,

constitutional and legislative demands.
"an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service 

improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong governance environment."

O U T T U R N

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

The council has numerous statutory duties and legislative demands it is responsible for e.g. data 
protection and health and safety standards.  

Ensuring all officers are therefore aware of and fully compliant with their obligations relating to 
these duties is essential in ensuring the council meets its legal responsibilities. 

To that end, the council has in place a NETconsent policy management system. The system 
ensures officers are presented with all relevant corporate policies for officers to 'sign up' to, 
ultimately presenting the authority with an overall compliance report for regular review. The full 
implementation of the NETconsent system therefore acts as a key tool in the council’s 
governance control environment.

At its meeting of 4 February 2020, the council's corporate Management Team agreed to the 
continuation of this process and identified the suite of corporate policies for distribution to officers 
in 2020. For the Performance and Administration portfolio specifically, this programme includes 
the council's Information Sharing Policy and Data Protection Policy both of which are overseen by 
the Information Governance team.

In addition, an audit was recently undertaken into the implementation of the General Data 
Protection Regulations (GDPR), a process also administered by the Information Governance 
team. 

In discharging the recommendation from the audit, lead officers from each Directorate Working 
Group are now formal members of the corporate Information Governance Group (IGG) that 
meets on a monthly basis. Related to this, Wider Management Team received an update on the 
work of the IGG in November 2019, outlining the action plan that has been developed to ensure 
ongoing GDPR compliance (in accordance with the recommendations of the audit report).  The 
IGG regularly reviews progress against that agreed action plan (which was endorsed by 
Management Team), with a significant number of the actions now implemented or underway.

P
age 34



Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P
age 35



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Performance & Administration Committee 

Date: 18th February 2020

Reporting officer: Pat Knight  

Subject: Corporate Partnership Register 2020

Purpose and summary of report: 
To inform members of the Performance & Admin Committee of the council’s involvement in 
partnerships that are within the remit of the committee. 

Recommendations:
1. This paper is for information purposes only 

1. Introduction 

1.1 The council is increasingly working in partnership with local organisations, groups, 
other public, private and ‘third sector’ bodies to achieve its objectives for the local 
community. Partnership working can add many benefits to the delivery of services 
by enabling the council to develop better understanding of the needs of the public 
through shared perspectives. This, in turn, can result in the avoidance of 
duplication, sharing of skills, knowledge and data, securing of additional 
resources, improved service delivery to the customer and improved customer 
satisfaction

1.2 The council has a Corporate Register of Partnerships which provides a central 
record of partnerships in which the council is involved. The register is available on 
the council website and is reviewed and updated on an annual basis; the last 
review took place in April 2019.

1.3 This year reflects the new administration and updated objectives and how the 
partnerships support the new Corporate Plan. 

2. Operational Services Committee

2.1 The current partnerships that most directly relate to the work of the Performance & 
Administration Committee are namely shared working arrangements as follows: 

2.1.1 Audit and Counter Fraud Shared Service 

2.1.2 Revenues and Benefits Management Arrangements

Page 37 Agenda Item 7



2

2.2 More detailed information regarding the partnerships overleaf is shown at 
appendix two to enable the committee to develop an understanding of these 
partnerships and the contribution they make to delivering services to the 
community. 

3. Background Papers

3.1 Background papers pertaining to this report are as follows:

 Working in Partnership Framework – April 2016

 Corporate Register of Partnerships – April 2019

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements.

Page 38



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There are no legal implications resulting from this report.  

As a requirement of the council’s Working in Partnership Framework, all potential 
partnership opportunities and shared working arrangements are formally 
considered by the Monitoring Officer to ensure that the legal aspects of proposals 
are taken into account prior to entering into a new arrangement.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

Partnerships and shared working arrangements can present financial and value for 
money savings to the council. The council’s Working in Partnership Framework 
requires all potential partnership opportunities and shared working arrangements to 
be formally considered by the Section 151 Officer to ensure that the financial 
aspects of all proposals are taken into account prior to entering into a new 
partnership.

Risk Assessment Partnership working is becoming more and more prevalent in the work of the 
council and is a key factor in the efficient and effective delivery of services and 
corporate objectives. It is therefore important that the council maintains 
comprehensive information regarding the partnerships it is involved in to enable 
effective consideration of partnership working arrangements as a contribution to the 
achievement of corporate objectives

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
No 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No 

Equality Impact 
Assessment

Corporate Plan Partnership and shared working arrangements will contribute to all of the Corporate 
Plan objectives in particular, #3 Progress by being an entrepreneurial authority 
looking at ways to be successful in managing an ever-increasing demand for our 
services and customer expectations on the quality we provide. 

Crime and Disorder The full Corporate Register of Partnerships includes information regarding the 
Community Safety Partnership and G-Safe.

Digital and website 
implications

There are no direct digital and website implications with this report. 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

The full Corporate Register of Partnerships includes information regarding the 
Children's Boards that are in operation across the council.

Page 39

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/


This page is intentionally left blank



GRAVESHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL

Corporate Register of 
Partnerships and Shared 
Working Arrangements

December 2019

A summary of partnership and shared working 
arrangements 

Performance & Admin

Page 41



Gravesham Borough Council        - 2 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019

Introduction
The council maintains a comprehensive register of its partnerships and shared working arrangement that is 
reviewed on an annual basis.  

Partnerships
The council defines a partnership as “an agreement between the Council and one or more independent 
bodies to work together to achieve one or more objectives”.

In addition to this, the council also splits the partnership register into ‘Significant’ and ‘Key other partnerships’.  
In order for a partnership to be classified as significant it must meet the following definition:

“a partnership for which there is a council resource provision of £10,000 or greater or one that is 
fundamental to the delivery of a corporate objective within the council’s Corporate Plan.  Without this 
effective partnership therefore, the delivery of Gravesham Borough Council’s key corporate goals 
would not occur.”

Shared Working Arrangements
In addition to partnership working, the council also has a number of shared working arrangements in place 
which range from a full-shared service with another local authority to shared manager/officer arrangements.  
The council is currently involved in the following shared working arrangements:

Page Ref. Name of Partnership
Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service
Revenues & Benefits Management Arrangements

Glossary of Terms (Page 7)
Throughout the document, there are a number of terms that are used and it was felt that it would be useful to 
provide a ‘Glossary of Terms’ in order to provide further clarification of some of the terminology used within the 
document.

Page 42



Gravesham Borough Council        - 3 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019

Name of Partnership Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service

Responsible Officer Stuart Bobby, Director (Corporate Services)

Lead Member(s) Councillor ,Narinderjit Singh Thandi  Lead Member for Performance and 
Administration

Statutory Status Local authorities statutorily required to have internal audit. 

Aims and objectives of 
partnership

The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service was established on 1 March 
2016 to provide internal audit, counter Fraud and investigation services to 
Medway Council and Gravesham Borough Council. The work of the service 
for Gravesham is driven by an annual plan, agreed with the Finance & Audit 
Committee in March of each year. 
The vision of the service as set out in its Strategy, agreed with the Finance & 
Audit Committee in March 2018, is to “deliver high quality assurance, 
consultancy and counter fraud work to help ensure the authorities meet their 
objectives. We will act as a catalyst for driving positive change, promoting 
improvement, learning and innovation so that we can truly add value. By 
investing in our staff and working to raise our profile, we aim to become the 
default and respected advisor and critical friend at the heart of Medway 
Council and Gravesham Borough Council”.

Expected outcomes The Shared Service has achieved the following outcomes:
 Reduced cost of the Internal Audit and Counter Fraud Service to each 

council, taking into account any reductions in funding arising from the 
introduction of the Single Fraud Investigation Service.

 Increased resilience.
 Increased efficiency through adoption of best working practices and 

sharing of audit and fraud resources.
 Maximising the opportunities presented through sharing a large common 

boundary, and dealing with similar day-to-day issues.

Links to GBC Corporate 
Objectives

Corporate Objective 4: Progress
 Driving service improvement and corporate governance 
 Building a strong and trusted brand 
 Delivering a more resilient, creative and cost-effective council 

GBC Resources
(financial, officer, assets 
etc)

As set out in the Shared Service agreement, approximately 36% of these 
resources are directed towards delivering the Audit & Counter Fraud Plan for 
Gravesham. 
The Shared Service agreement sets out the budgeted cost to Gravesham for 
2019-20 as £209,667. 
The team occupy space in the Civic Centre, though all ICT hardware is 
provided by Medway Council. 

Partnership membership Gravesham Borough Council and Medway Council.

Governance arrangements The Shared Service Agreement in place sets out the governance of the 
service; 
 S151 responsibilities in relation to the provision of internal audit have 

been delegated from Gravesham to Medway. 
 Schedules set out scope of services, service standards, reporting 

requirements and financial contributions. 

Page 43



Gravesham Borough Council        - 4 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019
Financial reporting 
arrangements and 
timeframe for reporting

Gravesham Borough Council is invoiced on a quarterly basis by Medway 
Council as host of the Shared Service. 
The expenditure budget for this arrangement is monitored through the 
council’s internal budget monitoring processes and reported via the 
established financial reporting arrangements.

Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details of 
formal review of partnership 
arrangements.

The Shared Service has established a suite of performance measures and 
arrangements to report on the outputs and performance of the team to the 
council’s Management Team and Finance & Audit Committee on a quarterly 
basis.  
The council’s Annual Governance Review and Statement considers the 
effectiveness of internal audit arrangements. 

Risk Assessment The Shared Service has a business plan and risk register in place for the 
delivery of its services. 

Safeguarding Obligations There are no direct safeguarding obligations for this service; however, the 
assurance activity undertaken by the service does look at various services 
and their management of their safeguarding obligations. 

Date Partnership 
Created / Approved 
by Cabinet

1 June 2015: Cabinet 
approval given for the 
partnership to become a 
full shared service.
1 March 2016: Shared 
Service launched. 

Date 
Partnership 
Terminates
(if applicable)

N/A

Page 44



Gravesham Borough Council        - 5 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019

Name of Partnership Revenues & Benefits Shared Management Arrangement 

Responsible Officer Stuart Bobby, Director (Corporate Services)

Lead Member(s) Councillor Narinderjit Singh Thandi, Lead Member for Performance and 
Administration

Statutory Status Non-statutory partnership

Aims and objectives of 
partnership

To jointly manage the Revenues & Benefits Teams of Gravesham 
Borough Council and Medway Council to provide savings while delivering 
an effective service.

Expected outcomes The key aim of the partnership is to provide a high quality, value for money 
service that improves benefits administration performance and maximises 
revenues collection rates whilst maintaining high levels of customer 
satisfaction.  
It is anticipated that the joint management arrangement will increase the 
resilience for the two authorities with opportunities for staff being able to 
assist at either authority should the need arise, and subject to the relevant 
approvals being sought at each site.  
Other benefits will be the ability to continually take the best practice 
arrangements from each council which should help to ensure the efficient 
delivery of a high quality service.

Links to GBC Corporate 
Objectives

Corporate Objective 1: People 
 Through enforcing high regulatory standards   
Corporate Objective 3: Progress  
 Sound financial management through shared management which is 

cost effective 
 Managing key business risks through increased resilience 
 Driving service improvement and corporate governance 

GBC Resources
(financial, officer, assets etc)

Gravesham Borough Council makes a regular payment to Medway 
Council, for the services of the Head of Revenues & Benefits and 
Revenues Manager employed by Medway Council.  These officers provide 
managerial support to the overall Revenues & Benefits Team and the 
specific Revenue team on a 50:50 basis.
GBC Assets – whilst onsite at GBC, the Head of Revenues and Benefits 
and the Revenues Manager will utilise desk space, IT computer network 
and telephone resources.

Partnership membership Gravesham Borough Council and Medway Council

Governance arrangements A formal Shared Management Agreement is in place which sets out 
specific requirements of the arrangement including details of the job 
profiles and financial contributions to be made.  It also includes details of 
performance monitoring and dispute resolutions, should this occur.

Financial reporting 
arrangements and timeframe 
for reporting

The cost of the arrangement is included in the Shared Management 
Agreement; Gravesham Borough Council agrees to pay 50% of the cost of 
Medway Council employing Head of Revenues & Benefits and revenues 
Manager.

Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details of 
formal review of partnership 
arrangements.

A Shared Management Agreement is in place to set the requirements for 
the joint-management arrangement and performance monitoring; although 
it is down to the responsible officers to implement a monitoring framework 
to meet the needs of the service. 
In addition, all shared working arrangements are kept under at least an 
annual review, with the results of these reviewed reported to the relevant 
Committee. 

Page 45



Gravesham Borough Council        - 6 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019
Risk Assessment Given that this is a new shared management arrangement, there is the 

potential risk that the Revenues and Benefits Section may suffer some 
reduction in performance due to the Shared Managers learning the 
working practices of GBC and the not being on-site full time.  However, 
there has been a significant handover period between the outgoing 
managers and the new Shared Managers. Also, officers are able to access 
GBC IT systems from Medway and staff are aware that they can be 
contacted at either authority. It is anticipated that this risk has been 
mitigate as far as possible at this time but will continue to be monitored. 
Monthly performance reports are circulated to management to highlight 
any major areas of concern to enable action to be taken as necessary and 
quarterly performance management information is provided to Members.

Safeguarding Obligations N/A

Date Partnership 
Created / Approved 
by Cabinet

01 October 2019 Date Partnership 
Terminates
(if applicable)

N/A

Page 46



Gravesham Borough Council        - 7 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019

Glossary of Terms
To provide assistance to officers, Members and members of the public when reading the council’s 
Corporate Register of Partnerships, a Glossary of Terms has been developed to provide additional 
information about the meaning of some of the words included within the register.

Term Used Meaning

Annual Governance 
Review

This is a review that is undertaken each year in order to assess the council’s overall 
governance arrangements.

Annual Report A comprehensive report on an organisations activities over the past year, intended 
to give shareholders and other interested people information about the 
organisation’s activities and financial performance.

Audit & Counter 
Fraud Plan

The Audit & Counter Fraud Plan is a document which sets out the work plan for the 
team for the forthcoming financial year.

BAME communities Black Asian Minority Ethnic communities

BEIS Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy - the UK Government 
department responsible for business, industrial strategy, science, innovation, 
energy, and climate change

Business Continuity 
Plan

A plan that sets out how an organisation will respond and manage business 
disruption in case of unforeseen events.

Business Plan A business plan is a formal statement of a set of business goals, the reasons they 
are believed attainable, and the plan for reaching those goals.

CCG Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) is the local statutory body responsible for the 
commissioning of certain clinical health services for patients registered with local 
GP’s. Locally, the CCG is responsible across the Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley 
areas.

CCTV Closed-circuit television (CCTV) is the use of video cameras to transmit a signal to a 
specific place, on a limited set of monitors; it is not openly transmitted

CIPFA The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) - the 
professional body for people in public finance.

Children Act 2004 The Children Act 2004 (c 31) is an Act of the Parliament of the United Kingdom.  It is 
the basis for most official administration considered helpful to children, notably 
bringing all local government functions of children's welfare and education under the 
statutory authority of local Directors of Children's Services.

Choices Choices (previously known as North Kent Women's Aid) was established in 1996 
and exists to provide help to Women and Children across North Kent who are 
experiencing domestic abuse.  

Climate Change Act 
2008

The Climate Change Act 2008 is a United Kingdom Act of Parliament which aims to 
enable the United Kingdom to become a low-carbon economy and gives ministers 
powers to introduce the measures necessary to achieve a range of greenhouse gas 
reduction targets.

Code of Practice Written guidelines issued by the partnership to its members to help them comply 
with the standards expected of the partnership.

Page 47



Gravesham Borough Council        - 8 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019
Term Used Meaning

Cohesion Plus The aim of Cohesion Plus is to promote positive community relations in Kent, 
bringing communities together through the arts, public education and sport.

Community Safety 
Fund

Formerly the Safer and Stronger Communities Fund.  Introduced for all Local 
Authorities in England in April 2005, the fund brings together central government 
(including Home Office) funding streams aimed at tackling crime, anti-social 
behaviour and drugs, empowering communities and improving the condition of 
streets and public spaces, prioritising the most disadvantaged neighbourhoods.

Community Safety 
Plan

A plan that outlines how the partnership aim to address the five key priorities for the 
Gravesham area.

Company Limited by 
Guarantee

An alternative type of corporation used primarily for non-profit organisations that 
require a legal framework.  

Constitution A document which sets out the fundamental rules governing the conduct of the 
partnership.  It may also include details of the concept and structure of the 
partnership.

Corporate Plan A document which sets out Gravesham Borough Council’s corporate priorities for a 
period of years and provides details of the actions to be undertaken towards 
achieving those objectives.

CROW Act The Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 normally gives a public right of access 
to land mapped as 'open country' (mountain, moor, heath and down) or registered 
common land. These areas are known as 'open access land'.

CVSNWK Council for Voluntary Services North West Kent

DCLG Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) - the UK Government 
department responsible for setting policy on supporting local government; 
communities and neighbourhoods; regeneration; housing; planning, building and the 
environment; and fire.

DEFRA Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) – the UK government 
department responsible for policy and regulations on environmental, food and rural 
issues.

EHO Environmental Health Officer

Emissions Inventory An emission inventory is an account of the amount of pollutants discharged into the 
atmosphere within the area.  

Energy Act 2011 The Energy Act 2011 is a United Kingdom Act of Parliament setting out three key 
principles: tackling barriers to investment in energy efficiency; enhancing energy 
security; and enabling investment in low carbon energy supplies.

Energy Company 
Obligation

The Energy Company Obligation (ECO) is a government energy efficiency scheme 
in Great Britain to help reduce carbon emissions and tackle fuel poverty.

Energy Saving Trust The Energy Saving Trust is the UK's leading impartial organisation helping people 
save energy and reduce carbon emissions by providing free, impartial advice and 
information to help people across the UK to find the best ways to save energy, 
conserve water and reduce waste.

Environment Act 
1995

The Environment Act 1995 is a United Kingdom Act of Parliament which created a 
number of new agencies and set new standards for environmental management.

Page 48



Gravesham Borough Council        - 9 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019

Term Used Meaning

Financial Conduct 
Authority

The Financial Conduct Authority is the conduct regulator for 56,000 financial 
services firms and financial markets in the UK and the prudential regulator for over 
18,000 of those firms.

FTE Full-time Equivalent (FTE) – the number of full-time equivalent staff that are working 
in the partnership.

HCA The Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) is the national housing and 
regeneration delivery agency for England.

Health & Social Care 
Act 2012

The Health and Social Care Act 2012 (c 7) is an Act of the Parliament of the United 
Kingdom and sets out the reorganisation of the NHS in the UK.

Home Energy 
Conservation Act 
1995 (HECA)

An Act to make provision for the drawing up of local energy conservation reports in 
relation to residential accommodation, placing a duty on local authorities to complete 
this for council housing stock.

Homelessness Act 
2002

An Act to make further provision about the functions of local housing authorities 
relating to homelessness and the allocation of housing accommodation.

Home Office The Homes Office is the lead government department for immigration, passports, 
counter-terrorism, policing, drugs and crime.

Housing Act 1985 The Housing Act 1985 is a British Act of Parliament. The act introduced laws relating 
to the succession of Council Houses. It also facilitated the transfer of council 
housing to not-for-profit housing associations

ICO Information Commissioner’s Office

ICT Information Communications Technology (ICT).

Jobcentre Plus Jobcentre Plus is an executive agency of the Department for Work and Pensions. It 
is responsible for assisting people of working age find jobs through its network of 
Jobcentre Plus offices. It is also responsible for administering some benefits for 
people of working age and for the administration of National Insurance numbers.

Kent Waste Strategy A sustainable household waste management strategy that sets out how the Kent 
Waste Partnership will manage Kent’s waste over the next 20 years (Strategy 
approved in 2007).

Landlord and Tenant 
Act 1985

The Landlord and Tenant Act 1985 (c 70) is a UK Act of Parliament on English land 
law. It sets bare minimum standards in tenants' rights against their landlords.

Local Government 
Act 1972

An Act of Parliament in the United Kingdom that makes provision with respect to 
local government and the functions of local authorities in England and Wales.

Local Government 
Act 2000

An Act to make provision with respect to the functions and procedures of local 
authorities and provision with respect to local authority elections; to make provision 
with respect to grants and housing benefit in respect of certain welfare services; to 
amend section 29 of the Children Act 1989; and for connected purposes.

LGA Local Government Association. A politically-led, cross-party organisation that works 
on behalf of councils to ensure local government has a strong, credible voice with 
national government.

Page 49

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/7/contents
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Act_of_Parliament
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Act_of_Parliament


Gravesham Borough Council        - 10 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019

Term Used Meaning

Localism Act 2011 An Act to make provision about the functions and procedures of local and certain 
other authorities; to enable the recovery of financial sanctions imposed by the Court 
of Justice of the European Union on the United Kingdom from local and public 
authorities; to make provision about local government finance; to make provision 
about town and country planning, the Community Infrastructure Levy and the 
authorisation of nationally significant infrastructure projects; to make provision about 
social and other housing; and for other connected purposes.

Memorandum of 
Understanding/ 
Agreement (MOU) 

A written document describing the roles and responsibilities of two (or more) parties 
on a particular venture.  An MOU is less formal than a contract, but is often signed 
by the parties involved to indicate their agreement to the principles contained in the 
MOU.  A MOU is sometimes a precursor to a formal agreement.

NACAB National Association of Citizens' Advice Bureaux

National Air Quality 
Strategy

The National Air Quality Strategy (NAQS) was established as part of the UK 
Government’s 1995 Strategic Policy for Air Quality Management. It uses health 
based standards as a framework to control the levels of seven designated air 
pollutants of seven air pollutants that are known to have adverse health effects.

Naturally Active 
Programme

The Naturally Active Programme utilises Big Lottery Funding and the project covers 
the areas of Dartford, Gravesham, Sevenoaks and Bexley.  It is able to support 
groups and organisations to access the surrounding countryside through a variety of 
outdoor activities such as improving a green space, wildlife photography and 
outdoor sports.

New Homes Bonus The “New Homes Bonus” is a Government scheme which is aimed at encouraging 
local authorities to grant planning permissions for the building of new houses, in 
return for additional revenue.

Partnership 
Agreement

An agreement between the relevant partners setting out how the partnership will 
operate and the commitment each will make to the partnership.

Prince2 This is a project management method which covers the management, control and 
organisation of a project.

Police Crime 
Commissioner

Police and crime commissioner will be elected to ensure the policing needs of their 
communities are met as effectively as possible, bringing communities closer to the 
police, building confidence in the system and restoring trust

Police and Justice 
Act 2006

An act extending police powers and granting the Home Office greater control over 
operational policing.

Radionet A system of radio stations operating with each other in order to ensure fast 
communication across a wide ranging area

Registered Social 
Landlord 

Registered Social Landlords (RSL) are government-funded not-for-profit 
organisations that provide affordable housing. They include housing associations, 
trusts and cooperatives.  They work with local authorities to provide homes for 
people meeting the affordable homes criteria.  As well as developing land and 
building homes, RSLs undertake a landlord function by maintaining properties and 
collecting rent.

S151 
Responsibilities

These are the statutory responsibilities that are designated to the council’s Chief 
Financial Officer, as defined by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA).

Page 50

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Community_Infrastructure_Levy


Gravesham Borough Council        - 11 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019
Term Used Meaning

Section 106 Section 106 (S106) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 allows a local 
planning authority (LPA) to enter into a legally-binding agreement or planning 
obligation with a landowner in association with the granting of planning permission. 
The obligation is termed a Section 106 Agreement.  They are increasingly used to 
support the provision of services and infrastructure, such as highways, recreational 
facilities, education, health and affordable housing.

Service Level 
Agreement (SLA)

A document which is agreed between the partners and records a common 
understanding about services, priorities and responsibilities and clearly defines the 
"level of service" expected through targets etc.

Shared Service 
Agreement

This is a document which is signed by those authorities participating in a share 
service and sets out the governance arrangements fort the shared service.

Significant 
partnership

A partnership for which there is a council resource provision of £10,000 or greater or 
one that is fundamental to the delivery of a corporate objective within the council’s 
Corporate Plan.  Without this effective partnership therefore, the delivery of 
Gravesham Borough Council’s key corporate goals would not occur.

SMEs Small and Medium Enterprise – a small or medium sized independent business that 
is managed by its owner or part-owners and has a small market share.

Steering Group A steering group is a group of senior officers/partners who oversee the delivery of a 
project or partnership initiative.

Strategic 
Assessment

Under the Police and Justice Act (2006), Crime and Disorder Reduction 
Partnerships (CDRP) are required to produce an annual strategic assessment which 
identifies the priorities they will tackle over the next 3 years.

Talking the Walk Talking the Walk provides audio tours which aim to enhance the visitor experience 
and preserve the town's heritage.  Tours have been produced for the Riverside, New 
Tavern Fort and Milton Chantry

Terms of Reference A document which describes the purpose and structure of a partnership along with 
basis for making future decisions and for confirming or developing a common 
understanding of the scope among stakeholders.

TUPE Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations – the United 
Kingdom's implementation of the European Union Business Transfers Directive, 
protecting employees whose business is being transferred to another business.

Unilateral Agreement An agreement in which one party makes a promise, but the other side does not 
promise anything.  Examples of these are offering rewards for the return of lost 
property.

VAWG Violence Against Women and Girls. The United Nations defines this as: “Any act of 
gender-based violence that results in, or is likely to result in, physical, sexual or 
psychological harm or suffering to women, including threats of such acts, coercion or 
arbitrary deprivation of liberty, whether occurring in public or in private life”. It 
includes; sexual violence, sexual harassment and bullying, stalking, trafficking, 
domestic abuse, female genital mutilation, forced marriage.

Page 51

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/United_Kingdom
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/United_Kingdom
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/European_Union
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Business_Transfers_Directive


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Debt Recovery Arrangements
	Appendix 2 Corporate Debt Strategy Draft

	6 Corporate Performance Update - Quarter Three 2019-20
	Performance & Admin Portfolio - Q3 2019-20 - Appendix 2.pdf

	7 Corporate Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
	2. Corporate Register of Partnerships  - Extract P&A




